

# Hungarian University of Agriculture and Life Sciences

# Projecting Circular Economy in rural areas and its impact on sustainable development principles, a case study from Kosovo

The Thesis of the PhD dissertation

Prespa Ymeri

Gödöllő, Hungary 2022

# Hungarian University of Agriculture and Life Sciences

Name of Doctoral School:	Doctoral School of Economic and Regional Sciences
Discipline:	Management and Business Administration Sciences
Head of Doctoral School:	Prof. Dr. Lakner, Zoltán DSC full professor, head of department Institute of Agriculture and Food Economics Department of Agricultural Business and Economics
Supervisor(s):	Dr. Habil Csaba Fogarassy PhD associate professor, director and head of department Institute of Agriculture and Food Economics Department of Agricultural Economics and Agricultural Policy

.....

.....

Approval of Head of Doctoral School

Approval of Supervisor(s)

# **Table of Contents**

1	INTR	ODUCTION	1
	1.1	PROBLEM STATEMENT AND JUSTIFICATION	2
2	OBJE	ECTIVES TO ACHIEVE	3
	2.2	RESEARCH QUESTIONS AND HYPOTHESIS RESEARCH QUESTIONS AND HYPOTHESIS	7
3	MET	ERIALS AND METHODS	8
	3.1.1	Sampling Procedure/Techniques and Sample Size	8
	3.1.2	Data analysis	8
	3.1.3	Measurement of Poverty and Inequality	9
	3.1.4	Binary Logistic Regression	10
	3.1.5	Field Experiment	11
4	RESU	JLTS AND DISCUSSION	12
	4.1	INCOMES OF FARM HOUSEHOLDS	12
	4.1.1	Distribution of Non-Farm Incomes Based on Income Level of Rural Households	12
	4.1.2	Level of Farmers' Engagement on Agriculture	13
	4.1.3	Poverty incidence and income distribution	14
	4.2	FARMER'S ATTITUDE ON USING WHEAT STRAW	16
	4.2.1	Contract volumes and price preferences	
	4.2.2	Reasons for not baling straw and incentives to encourage baling	
	4.2.3	Length of Supply and Contract	
	4.2.4	Actual Use of Wheat and Corn Straw	18
	4.2.5	Descriptive Data of Farmers	19
	4.2.6	Binary Logistic Regression	20
	4.2.7	The Impact of Socio-Economic Factors on The Willingness to Sell the Straw	
	4.3	BIOMASS ASSESSMENTS Differences Between Cultivars and Regions for 2019 and 2020 (g. cm/ wheat plant)	
	4.3.2	Correlation Between Wheat Parameters	
	4.3.3	The Share of Total Dry Biomass for The Two Regions	26
	4.3.4	Differences Between Cultivars and Regions (kg/ha), for 2019 and 2020	27
	4.3.5	Harvest index and ratio straw to grain, based on the cultivar, region and year	28
5	CON	CLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	29
•	5.1		29
	5.2	RECOMMENDATIONS	30
	5.3	LIMITATIONS	30
6	NEW	SCIENTIFIC RESULTS	30
7	REFI	ERENCES	32
7.	LIST	OF PUBLICATIONS	38

### **1** INTRODUCTION

According to BIILGEN ET AL. (2007) the only natural, renewable carbon resource known that is large enough to be used as a substitute for fossil fuels is biomass. For biomass to be effective at reducing greenhouse gas emissions, it must be produced in a sustainable way (EUROPEAN COMMISSION, 2014). Pellet it considered as a source of renewable energy for heating and electricity, however as a result of frequent reports (FAZEKAS & TUERK, 2016; NRDC, 2020; WAL, 2021) that the production of pellets from wood is not sustainable and causes deforestation which is expressed mainly in developing countries, authors (FAZEKAS & TUERK, 2016; PERLACK, 2005) required to give importance to the use of agricultural residues (dry matter) as renewable energy for heating, in this case it would bring extra income to farmers and also reduce deforestation (European Commission, 2018). One of the most widespread crops in the world is wheat and its residues, which are the main contributors to biomass burning (YEVICH & LOGAN, 2003). A tool that help in this transition is Circular Economy. The Circular Economy concept is based on recovering onsite resources that are still circulating (overproduction, waste) instead of importing them from abroad (DONIA ET AL., 2018). According to ENEL (2008), circular economy is a strategic ally of sustainable development. Working on the circular economy means working on the majority of Sustainable Development Goals (KRUCHTEN & EIJK 2020). Using biomass residues for energy would be a nonfarm generating activity for farmers, and besides reducing poverty, it is also environmentally friendly (KUROWSKA ET AL., 2014; ROZBICKA & SZENT-IVÁNYI, 2020; YMERI ET AL., 2020). SCHOR, (2017) highlights that C.E. may increase inequalities due to disadvantages that low-income, less-educated people have regarding access. GRADZIUK ET AL. (2020) states that small farms reduce substantially the possibility of using high-performance, large-sized presses, which in turn determines the economic feasibility of biomass supply. In line with this statements are also authors who reported that extra income can increase inequality (IQBAL ET AL., 2018; KMOCH ET AL., 2018). Thus KIRCHHERR ET AL. (2017) suggest that those who propose C.E. may be well-advised to state social equity as one of its design variables. When it comes to environmental aspect and biomass capacity, there are different factors that impact the amount of straw including the type of crops, crop variety, crop rotation, agricultural management practices (e.g., tillage), climate, and physical characteristics of the soil, type of harvest, fertilizers (BATIDZIRAI ET AL., 2016; LARSEN ET AL., 2012; PELTONEN-SAINIO ET AL., 2008; SKØTT, 2011) thus, there are no criteria on straw removal except "loss of soil fertility if too much straw is removed" (ELBERSEN ET AL., 2010; GLITHERO, RAMSDEN, ET AL., 2013). Besides its importance there are authors (TOWNSEND

ET AL., 2017) that proclaimed that usually biomass residues are overestimated this is because in general, different studies discussed the amount of wheat residues that are available to use for energy purposes, without agronomic measurement, most of them found this amount based on coefficients suggested from literature review(CAI ET AL., 2008; KARAJ ET AL., 2010; KUMAR ET AL., 2015; LANFRANCHI, 2012; MARKS-BIELSKA ET AL., 2019; SAHITI ET AL., 2015; YANLI ET AL., 2010; ZHANG ET AL., 2019; EZEALIGU AT AL., 2021). While, according to GIANNOCCARO (2017) In the economics of biomass, it is possible to apply the method that considers the willingness of farmers to supply which is critical in the early stages of commercialization of new technologies and industry development (ALTMAN ET AL., 2015; GAUS ET AL., 2013; GLITHERO, RAMSDEN, ET AL., 2013; PANNELL ET AL., 2006; ZYADIN ET AL., 2019). A comparison between these approaches and the convention alone could lead to new interdisciplinary collaborations, and this type of data could be used as a basis for further studies. Thus the first aim of this study is to recognize the impact of non-farm income on farmer's wellbeing regarding poverty and inequality, to distinguish farmers' attitudes toward a new biomass market from wheat straw as a source of energy and the third one to measure the potential capacity of wheat residues based on agronomic assessment and willingness of farmers to sell straw, these are vital to design and present economic and policy incentives successfully.

#### 1.1 Problem Statement and Justification

Typically, in developing countries, a large amount of agricultural waste suitable for energy use remains unexploited, remaining on the arable land or being burned in the field (MCNULTY & GRACE, 2009; NIKOLOV, 2011; Y. WANG ET AL., 2010). Complicating matters is the fact that some countries have significant fossil energy reserves. This is also the case in Kosovo, which has the largest coal (lignite) reserves in southeastern Europe (C.E.E.B.N. 2019). An important question is how polluting, and non-climate-friendly fossil fuels are to be replaced when they are available cheaply and in large quantities, and in the same time how can we reduce deforestation when 85-100% of households use wood for heating purposes while other sources of heating are electricity, natural gas, heavy oil and coal (KABASHI ET AL., 2016). Based on the data from Eurostat (EUROSTAT 2019; M.E.E. 2021) regarding Kosovo, electricity from coal is 94.86%, it is one of the highest shares of energy from coal compared to neighbouring countries see: (ITA, 2020; KISS & PETKOVIČ, 2015; NIKOLAKAKIS ET AL., 2019). The obligatory general target of partaking in energy from renewable energy in G.F.C.E. of energy in 2020 was 25%. Kosovo reached the target of 25.69%, and made a voluntary target of 29.47%, however from the achieved target from

overall G.F.C.E, 23.89% is from biomass for heating purposes, and 1.8% from renewable electricity (EUROSTAT 2019; M.E.E. 2021).

When it comes to Circular Economy and renewable energy several authors claim that social equity is usually absent on the C.E. concept, including unequal distribution of wealth, income, and labour conditions. Selling straw is considered as an extra nonfarm income. However, there are reports where nonfarm incomes cause inequality between farmer's households (IQBAL ET AL., 2018; KMOCH ET AL., 2018; MAT ET AL., 2012; WOLDEHANNA & OSKAM, 2000). Thus in the first part of our study, we analyzed if nonfarm incomes create inequality in Kosovo's case. Our second purpose was to specify the amount of straw available for energy use; when it comes to this topic, two reasons require attention: The first reason is described by TOWNSEND ET AL. (2017), who states that biomass is overestimated because of the variation with cultivar and locationspecific factors. The ratios must be calculated for individual cultivars and locations to predict straw yield from grain yield accurately. While the second reason is described by GLITHERO ET AL. (2013a), who stated that straw availability might also be overestimated as calculations often assume that all farmers who can sustainably supply straw will supply that straw, whereas, in reality, many farmers are unwilling to do so because of, for example, concerns about negative soil impacts and potential delays in planting subsequent crops. Studies in social science fields usually can overestimate the amount of straw caused by missing the part of agronomic measurement or the willingness of farmers to sell straw. Our study gives a clear picture regarding how nonfarm incomes will impact rural households' wellbeing and the biomass capacity of Kosovo for bioenergy based on farmers' willingness to sell straw and agronomic measurement.

#### **2 OBJECTIVES TO ACHIEVE**

The motive for this study is to reduce deforestation, straw burning in fields that are associated with forest burnings through the use of straw as renewable energy for heating purposes. The new energy biomass market would also bring extra income to the farmers and reduce air pollution. Additionally, our study aims to provide scientific information to local/national organizations as well as on governmental level, regarding the capacity of wheat residues from three most used cultivars in Kosovo, which would be the first step (regarding biomass sources-except wood) that would help in the transition from coal to sustainable biomass use. Regarding international literature, the study's objective is to give the exact values of straw measurement by combining agronomic measures with the willingness of farmers to sell straw, based on the sustainable removal rate of straw. The other objective of this study is to understand how non-farm income affects the welfare and inter household income inequality in Kosovo's case

#### **Specific Objectives**

1. Analyze the impact of off-farm income on poverty and inequality.

2. Analyze which socio-economic factors determine the willingness of farmers to sell straw on higher amounts.

3. Analyze practices, barriers and incentives toward a new market with straw biomass.

4. To find out correlation between wheat parameters in order to better predict the amount of straw, and assess the ratio between total dry biomass to seed, straw for energy purposes to total dry biomass and straw for energy purposes to collectable straw.

#### 2.1.1.1 Scientific research model

Degradation of the natural environment and the energy crisis are two vital issues for sustainable development worldwide (NI ET AL., 2006). Sustainable development implies creating environmental quality, economic prosperity and social equity for current and future generations(KIRCHHERR ET AL., 2017). The implementation of the Sustainable Development Strategy through the Sustainable Development Goals 2015-2030 needs to take into consideration the EU' package from December 2015 concerning the achievement of the Circular Economy under the vision of the 3R - Recycle, Reuse, Reduce (CIANI ET AL., 2016). According to ENEL (2008), circular economy is a strategic ally of sustainable development. Working on the circular economy means working on the majority of SDGs, not as a cost item but as a business model (KRUCHTEN & EIJK, 2020). It is fundamental to highlight that the Circular Economy means changing people habits, mentalities (BELC ET AL., 2019). C.E. must promote loops when socially desirable and efficient(ANDERSEN, 2007). From all key components of sustainable development principles, less than 1% of literature on circular economy speak of equity or equality, human attitudes and only ca. 1% covers poverty (VELENTURF & PURNELL, 2021). Based on the study of SCHROEDER ET AL. (2019) circular economy can also contribute to poverty, reduced inequiities, renewable energy and climate action. Figure 1. Represents the relationship between sustainable development goals and circular economy, which both have common principles; Environmental Quality, Economic Prosperity and Social Equity.



Figure 1. Conceptual framework model; Sustainable Development goals in terms of Circular Economy.

Source: Author's own construction based on UNITED NATION,(2015) assembly and EUROPEAN COMMISSION (2015)

From the total seventeen goals of sustainable development, the study analyzes these SDGs in Circular Economy perspective: SDG (1) No poverty, SDG (10) Reduced Inequalities, SDG (7) Renewable Energy, SDG (13) Climate action and SDG (17) Partnership for the Goals. The study aim to provide scientific information regarding to povery and inequality amog rural hoseholds in Kosovo, and the impact that extra incomes have on these (related to: SDG 1 and 10). According to KIRCHHERR ET AL. (2017) the dimension of social equity has to do with how the Circular Economy aims to protect, transform, strengthen and develop society, human wellbeing and job. Furthermore the study aims to measure the capacity of biomass residues from wheat as a source of renewable energy (SDG 7) based on circular pillar "Recover", regarding to climate action (SDG 13) the studys' aim is to reduce burnings of wheat residues into open fiels and reduce deforestation by using agriculture residues as renewable energy at the same time fulfilling the renewable energy targets, while our partnership for the goals (SDG 17) in the study will be farmers and their willingness to participate into a new market for renewable energy production. According KRUCHTEN AND EIJK (2020) the transition to the circular economy requires systemic change

and asks for collaboration. Below is described the flow of the model with specific analysis. The figure 3 explains the research model of this study;



Face to face interview, the year 2017, sample 203

Face to face interview, the year 2019, sample 206,

Two years experiment 2018-2019 and 2019-2020 in two regions of Kosovo, three winter wheat cultivars.

#### **Figure 2. Research Model**

Source: Author's own construction

Regarding experiment, different authors suggest a sustainable removal rate of straw residues from land between 33-60% (DAIOGLOU ET AL., 2016; SPÖTTLE ET AL., 2013) and available biomass for energy purposes 25-62% (ALAKANGAS, 2011; CAI ET AL., 2008; KARAJ ET AL., 2010; WEISER ET AL., 2014; YANLI ET AL., 2010). However, according to TOWNSEND ET AL. (2017), there is uncertainty regarding the amount of straw chopped, incorporated and used, and, taken together with the uncertainty regarding the amount of straw that can be sustainably harvested, it is unclear how much straw is available for bioenergy production. While, according to GAUS ET AL. (2013) and GLITHERO ET AL. (2013a), farmers' decision-making determines the amount of straw available on the market. Thus this study takes into account the amount of straw that can be produced in sustainable way and based on willingness of farmers to sell it.

#### 2.2 Research Questions and Hypothesis Research Questions and Hypothesis

The main research questions of the paper are: what is the biomass capacity which can be used for energy purposes in Kosovo and what are farmers' attitudes regarding a new straw market? How will the extra incomes impact the wellbeing of rural households?

H1: There is a significant difference in nonfarm incomes based on household income

H2: There is a significant difference in nonfarm income between the engagement time of farmers in agriculture

H3: The presence of animals and the experience in selling straw has impact on farmers' willingness to sell straw

H4: Socio-economic factors have a significant effect on farmers' willingness to sell straw

H5: There is a significant difference regarding the amount of residues based on cultivars, regions, years.

## **3** METERIALS AND METHODS

#### 3.1.1 Sampling Procedure/Techniques and Sample Size

Kosovo is divided into seven regions and 38 municipalities LATIFI-PUPOVCI ET AL. (2020). Our samples were chosen based on the willingness of farmers to cooperate. Due to the absence of knowledge in using the internet among farmers, the questionnaires were filled out through face-to-face interviews by making personal visits to rural areas, both at home and the workplace of respondents and in one of the mills. It is important to note that the study sample can be considered statistically representative at the national level because of the data collection methods used. The sample adequacy tests showed that the sample chosen for the study is adequate at a 95% confidence level with a margin of error of 6.8% and 6.7% for the first and second study.

- The first study was conducted during spring of 2017. Our sample area consisted of five regions. The sample sizes of the five regions were: 31; 38; 57; 51, and 26 (number of questionnaires distributed). In total, the survey covered 203 heads of farm households. Our research highlights the effect of non-farm income on poverty and inequality of household income.
- Collection of data for the second study was done during the period May–October 2019. The sample consists of six regions. The sample sizes of the six regions were: 58; 56; 50; 20; 11; and 11 (number of questionnaires distributed, 206). Municipalities were selected throughout Kosovo at a distance of up to 70 km from an energy plant site, a similar distance we can find in the study of GIANNOCCARO (2017).
- Third study is done through experiment; After discussing with different agricultural pharmacies in two main regions in Kosovo, we selected three most used wheat cultivars. A similar selection based on their wide use was chosen in the study of DUBS ET AL. (2018). The three winter wheat cultivars: *Euclid* from France, *Vulcan* from Croatia and *Exotic* from Romania. The experiment with three cultivars of wheat was conducted during the years 2018/2019 for the first experiment, and it was repeated during 2019/2020 as the second experiment in two main reagions of Kosovo; Dukagjini Plain and Kosovo Plain.

#### 3.1.2 Data analysis

In order to analyse inequalities or differences within our sample, between the poorest and the richest, the total sample was separated into three income classes (tertile) based on respondents' incomes. To determine the significance level, these three variables (tertile) are compared with each other in terms of socio-economic factors, using one-way ANOVA (Tukey method) in Minitab 17. A similar methodology for analysing the significant differences between three variables are used

in different studies elsewhere (MÖLLERS & BUCHENRIEDER, 2011; YMERI ET AL., 2017). Furthermore, farms were divided based on farm type to understand better the link between the level of farmers' engagement in agriculture and their income. According to MÖLLERS & BUCHENRIEDER (2011), full-time farms are characterised by only 10% income coming from non-farm sources, the second type of farms (complemented part-time farming) have a share of non-farm incomes between 10%-50%, and the third type of farms with more than 50% of income from non-farm sources are considered as subsidiary part-time farming. These three types of farms are considered as independent variables.

For the second study, data was examined with a statistical package for social sciences (SPSS). Binary logistic regression was used to check significant factors influencing the percentage of straw that farmers are willing to sell to a power plant, similar method with the willingness was used in the study of MURIQI ET AL. (2019).

While for the third study, One-way ANOVA was used to test differences between cultivars within the region, t-test was used to analyze differences of wheat cultivars between regions and years, while Correlation was used to see the link between wheat parameters; Total dry biomass, chaff and seed (in gram), height of pant, height of spike and height if straw.

#### 3.1.3 Measurement of Poverty and Inequality

To examine the impact of non-farm income on poverty, we used poverty decomposition techniques- Foster, Greer, and Thorbecke (FGT), as has been done by MÖLLERS & BUCHENRIEDER (2011). The modified version of the index created by Foster-Greer-Thorbecke (FOSTER ET AL., 1984) can be used to observe the effects of nonagricultural income on poverty. The study considers three versions of the income poverty index to shed more light on different aspects of income poverty (1) the headcount index, (2) the poverty deficit index, and (3) the poverty severity index. According to FOSTER ET AL., (1984), the three poverty measures are explained by (2).

$$P(\alpha) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \left[ max\left(\frac{z-ci}{z}\right), 0 \right]^{\alpha}$$
(2)

where z is the poverty line, ci is the income of the individual i, n is the total number of individuals, and m represents the number of poor individuals. In terms of poverty measures, the parameter  $\alpha$ can change. P(0) displays the headcount index, which signifies the share of poor individuals below the poverty line, where parameter  $\alpha$  is determined to be equal to 0, we obtain P (0). When parameter  $\alpha$  is determined to be 1, we obtain P (1) that is the poverty deficit; this measure considers how far the poor, on average, fall below the poverty line. Lastly, poverty severity measures; if  $\alpha$  is equal to 2, we obtain P (2), which takes into account the difference in the severity of poverty by giving more weight to the poorest or taking into account the inequality among the poor.

The international poverty line, which the World Bank recommended, was used as a measure of absolute poverty. We also present a relative poverty line that corresponds to 60% of the sample's median equivalised per capita income (OECD, 2017). According to ATKINSON ET AL. (1995), equivalence scales can help determine a value for each household type, which is in proportion to its needs. To estimate equivalence scales, we can find three methods: Here, we use a class of equivalence scales which can be described by the following formula: (3)

#### $Equivalent \ size = (Adults + Children)^{\theta}$ (3)

where  $\theta$  is a parameter between 0 and 1 to be chosen or estimated. We set the equivalence scale  $\theta$  to 0.53. The following equivalence number for normal household sizes is too close to what is called the OECD-II equivalence scale<sup>1</sup>. According to SHKOLNIKOV ET AL. (2003), the widely known and used measure of inequality is the Gini coefficient, which relies on the Lorenz curve; this curve represents a cumulative frequency curve. It compares the share of a specific variable (for example, income) over the population to show inequality. Another Gini is calculated based on how a source of income decreases/increases the overall Gini coefficient. The Gini coefficient lies between 0 and 1, with 0 signifying absolute equality and 1 meaning absolute inequality (MÖLLERS & BUCHENRIEDER, 2011; WORLD BANK, 2000).

#### 3.1.4 Binary Logistic Regression

In regard to the analysis with the willingness of farmers to sell straw, binary logistic regression is applied. Using this model, factors (X–independent variables) affecting the percentage of straw willingness to sell, and results (Y–dependent variables) could be measured. The formula used for this analysis is as follows:

 $Y = B_0 + B_1$  Already sell straw +  $B_2$ Soil Concerns +  $B_3$ Presence of animals +  $B_4$ Engagement in Agriculture +  $B_5$  Age +  $B_6$  Farm size with wheat +  $B_7$ Farm type +  $B_8$ Employment +  $B_9$ Education +  $B_{10}$ Percentage of willing to sell corn +  $B_{11}$ Farm size with corn +  $B_{12}$ Family size + ui.

In regard to the percentage of selling straw, almost all farmers had a refereeing point of 50% (less or more than 50%). Thus the model is described as follows: The percentage of willingness to sell was involved as the binary dependent variable [(0) less than 50%; (1) more than 50%], with twelve variables located in table 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "OECD-modified scale." After having used the "old OECD scale" in the 1980s and the earlier 1990s, the Statistical Office of the European Union (EUROSTAT) adopted in the late 1990s the so-called "OECD-modified equivalence scale." This scale, first proposed by (Haagenars et al. 1994), assigns a value of 1 to the household head, of 0.5 to each additional adult member and of 0.3 to each child (OECD, 2015)

#### 3.1.5 Field Experiment

After discussing with different agricultural pharmacies in two regions, we selected farmers' that most used wheat cultivars. A similar selection based on their wide use was chosen in the study of DUBS ET AL. (2018). There were three winter cultivars: *Euclid* from France, *Vulcan* from Croatia and *Exotic* from Romania. Plots were sown and harvested on the following dates (table 1). A similar methodology was repeated for the second year.

Table 1. Sown and Harvested Date of Wheat Plants.											
Region	Dukag	gjini Plain	Koso	vo Plain							
Years	2018/2019	2019/2020	2018/2019	2019/2020							
Sown date	19.10.2018	21.10.2019	26.10.2018	23.10.2019							
Harvest date	12.07.2019	10.07.2020	16.07.2019	15.07.2020							

Source: authors' own calculation

The research was conducted in two different agro-climatic and terrestrial regions of the Republic of Kosovo (in the Dukagjini Plain and the Kosovo Plain). Test fields were planted on the experimental farms of the Kosovo Agricultural Institute, in the Dukagjini plain (Vitomirica/Peja), in the Kosovo plain (test fields were planted in Lipjan).

Kosovo Plain is influenced by continental air mass with an average temperature of -10 <sup>o</sup>C during winter, whereas summers are very hot with an average temperature of 20<sup>o</sup>C. The annual precipitation in the Kosovo Plain is estimated to be 600mm. Dukagjin Plain is highly influenced by hot air masses that go through the Adriatic Sea. The average temperature during the wintertime is 0.5<sup>o</sup>C to 22.8<sup>o</sup>C. The average annual precipitation of this climatic area is 700mm (RKS-GOV, 2021). This research project has been implemented and monitored by the Crop Production Sector in cooperation with the laboratories mentioned above, which operate within the Agricultural Institute of Kosovo in two regions (Dukagjini Plain and Kosovo Plain).

Harvest index and the ratio of straw to grain are calculated based on formulas below:

1) 
$$HI = \frac{Grain Yield}{Biological Yield} x \ 100 = \frac{Grain Yield}{(Grain Yeild + Straw Yield*)} x \ 100$$
  
2)  $Ratio = \frac{Total dry biomass}{Grain Yield}$   
3)  $Ratio. C = \frac{Collectable Straw Yield}{Grain Yield}$   
4  $Ratio. C. W = \frac{Collectable Straw Yield}{Grain Yield} x willingness to sell the straw(%)$ 

Ratio C= collectable amount of straw to grain ratio

Ratio C. W=collectable amount of straw to grain (based on willingness to sell the straw in percentage) ratio

## **4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

#### 4.1 Incomes of Farm Households

With per capita GDP estimates of close to  $\notin 3,000$ , Kosovo is one of the poorest countries in Europe. Average per capita income is about one-tenth of E.U. levels, and poverty remains high. No significant differences exist between urban and rural poverty, but there are some notable regional differences (WORLD BANK, 2016).

# 4.1.1 Distribution of Non-Farm Incomes Based on Income Level of Rural Households

The study has analyzed the relationship between income level and distribution of off-farm income sources in total households' income. Contrary to the expected decreasing or u-shaped curves, the higher level of non-farm incomes in the middle-income class leads to an inversely shaped u-curve. The poorest group, with around 22%, belongs to a moderately low degree of non-farm income (described in figure 2). Generally, poorer households have high motivation but low ability to be involved in other sources of income; BARRETT ET AL. (2001) has discussed this case. We can also see the percentage of migration, which is the lowest in the poorer households and is in line with different studies (MCKENZIE, 2017; MENDOLA, 2008). Again if we analyze middle-income class, we see that non-farm income sources increases total income, therefore, it might be a distress-push situation as the reason for the inverse u-shaped relationship. In this situation, access to non-farm employment is easier or more difficult for certain parts of the population. Simultaneously, farming is seen as the most profitable solution for rural households compared to all other sources of income. Middle-income households appear to be defined by their potential and skills to find other options in the non-farm activities, enabling them to increase their total income and compensate for low farming income.



Figure 3. Income Groups and Share of Non-farm Incomes (%) Source: authors' own calculation

#### 4.1.2 Level of Farmers' Engagement on Agriculture

Farmers are engaged in agriculture on different levels; based on these levels, farm type is created. According to MÖLLERS & BUCHENRIEDER (2011), from the total income of full time farms, only 10% are from non-farm sources, while the second type of farms (complemented part-time farming) have a share of non-farm income between 10%-50% and the last one subsidiary part-time farming is as a typical subsidiary farm where the head of household gives priority working outside the farm sector and as a result, non-farm income is higher than farm income (part-time farms, subsidiary). The study analyzes farmers' incomes based on farm types (table 3). The results show that complemented part-time farming (type 2) fares better compared to per capita incomes p>0.05. This difference may be explained because farm income per hectare of land on type 2 is the highest. Nonetheless, this farm income per land on type 2 farms is not significant, another explanation may be due to high share of non-farming income compared to full-time farms p<0.05. According to per capita income, full-time farms are the poorest, even though they have higher income per ha than subsidiary farm types. Full-time farms disadvantage remains on the lowest share of non-farm income sources are essential, and it seems that alternative employment can increase income.

Farm type (N)	Per capita income, equivalent scale (€)	Farm income per ha of land (€/ha)	Nonfarm income per capita eq. scale (€)	Farm share In total income (%)
Full-time farms (99)	3997 <sup>a</sup>	2601.71ª	29.7°	99.2
Complemented part- time farming (63)	5165ª	3001.98ª	1923 <sup>b</sup>	62.32
Subsidiary part-time farming (40)	4223 <sup>a</sup>	2055.17ª	2909ª	31.59
p-value	0.182	0.167	0.000	0.456

Table 3. Incomes According to Farm Type Classes in Kosovo, 2017

Means that do not share a letter are significantly different; Source: authors' own calculation

Based on the finding of MÖLLERS & BUCHENRIEDER (2011), full-time farms had a share in the total income of around 68.1%, and per capita incomes of full-time farms fared the best compare with the other two types of farms. The same author MÖLLERS & BUCHENRIEDER, (2011) stated that this could be due to a higher share of farming income and higher productivity. In our case, usually, farmers had more than 10% share from non-farm incomes or not a share at all. As a result, full-time farms were fully engaged or had a farm share in the total income of 99.2%, with

significantly low non-farm income, these type of farms also had lowest income per capita and lower income per ha compared to complemented part-time farming.

#### 4.1.3 Poverty incidence and income distribution

Table 4 shows the poverty incidence of rural households. The headcount index calculated based on a USD 4.30 poverty line (JIMENO ET AL., 2000) results in that 20% of the farm households in the sample face absolute poverty. Based on the results, almost one quarter (24%) of the households' sample falls below relative poverty line. Poverty severity, this indicator shows relatively low figures for the sample households, meaning that there is no considerable inequality in income distribution amongst the poor. The poverty gap index measures the total difference between the actual incomes of poor households and the poverty line. This index shows how much money should be transferred to the poor to lift them out of poverty (REINERT, 2017). The poverty deficit, defined as the average distance of the poor to the relative poverty line, is relatively low at 9%. In our sample, a household can be lifted above the relative poverty line with an additional 489.79 € per year and above the absolute poverty line with 316.42€. According to the impact that non-farm income and uncarned income have, non-farm income lifts 16% of households out of poverty. The effect of uncarned income is lower by about 2.7%-3.45%

	Household Yearly	Headcount	Poverty	Poverty Deficit	The share shifted abo due to	of households ve poverty line
	income (€)	-mdex	Severity	(Gap)	Non-farm Income	Unearned Income
Absolute poverty line \$4.30 USD-line (1USD=0.94€)	3255.59	0.20	0.03	0.07	16%	0.03%
Relative poverty line 60% of median	3886.41	0.24	0.04	0.09	16%	3.45%

•/	Ta	ıble	4.	Poverty	<b>Incidence</b>	and	Income	Dist	ribution
----	----	------	----	---------	------------------	-----	--------	------	----------

Source: authors' own calculation

Table 5 shows the distribution of total household income in the sample based on the Gini coefficient. The income distribution was calculated, excluding non-farm incomes too. The Gini coefficient of 0.488 for the farm households in the sample indicates that income distribution is unequal. At the Gini coefficient, which was calculated without considering non-farm incomes, we

find a notable increase in the Gini coefficient, namely 0.699; this implies that non-farm income contributes to equal income distribution in rural areas. The examination of partial coefficients calculated based on decomposed Gini coefficients confirms that all household sources reduce inequality, especially the farm income. To calculate Gini coefficients, all households in the sample were considered, including those with no share in the respective income source (MÖLLERS & BUCHENRIEDER, 2011).

Gini coefficient		
based on adjusted per capita incomes (equivalent scale)	0.488	
non-farm incomes excluded	0.699	
Decomposed Gini coefficients		
based on farm incomes	0.496	(-0.252)
based on non-farm incomes	0.754	(-0.0451)
based on unearned incomes	0.94	(-0.0024)
Gini Total	0.452	

#### Table 5. Income distribution and non-farm incomes

Source: authors' own calculation

#### 4.2 Farmer's Attitude on Using Wheat Straw

According to literature, sale of biomass for briquettes or pellets could be a future option. The price of the new product will primarily determine opportunities.

#### 4.2.1 Contract Volumes and Price Preferences

Farmers' preferences regarding quantity (Figure 2a) and price (Figure 2b) of straw sold via contracts with a power plant are as follows: The highest frequency was for supplying a fixed area of straw, for a spot market price, while the second-highest was for supplying an amount dependent on farm surplus. As for price, the second most popular response was a fixed price.



Figure 2a. Quantity supply contract preferences; Figure 2b. Price supply contract option preferences

Source: authors' own calculation

Almost half of the farmers are willing to supply a fixed area of straw (44.2%) with a spot market price (68%). Similar results can be found in GLITHERO ET AL. (2013*A*) study, where 42% of farmers chose to supply a fixed area of straw, while the most popular response was fixed price (34% of farmers); this means that farmers do not want the risk of losing potential gains when market prices rise in Kosovo. The potential market of straw for bioenergy purposes is new to most farmers, so it is possible that they can expect the price to rise if this industry starts to take off. According to KUROWSKA ET AL. (2014), an unstable biomass market and its price fluctuations are seen as a weakness and threat, whereby the poor state of infrastructure and an unfavourable fuel situation can harm the market (BRODZIŃSKI ET AL., 2014).

#### 4.2.2 Reasons for not Baling Straw and Incentives to Encourage Baling

In the study done by GLITHERO ET AL. (2013A), the lack of a market and machinery were excuses given by less than 10% of the farmers.



Figure 3a. Reasons for not baling/selling straw; Figure 3b. Incentives to encourage straw baling
Source: authors' own calculation

When farmers were asked about their reasons for not baling/selling (including selling in swath) some or all of their straw (figure 3a), the most popular response was a lack of market interest (74.1%) and the second reason was a lack of machinery (54.9%). When farmers were asked about factors that would motivate them to bale and sell their straw (figure 3b), the most popular response was a good price (75%), followed by a guaranteed market (67.8%) and guaranteed price (40.3%). Farmers were generally less interested in a fixed price, and some of them will not be encouraged by any of these reasons.

4.2.3 Length of Supply and Contract



Figure 4a. Maximum Contract Length Supplying; Figure 4b. The Preferred Price of Straw Source: authors' own calculation

Farmers were asked about the length of time (in years) (Figure 22) they would prefer to consecutively supply straw to a bioenergy plant and the maximum contract length that would be acceptable to them. Almost all farmers gave the same response for both, so we combined them into one question. The most popular contract lengths were 10 years (39.4%), 15 years (20%), and three years (7.2%). Note that while contract lengths of 15 years or less were most popular, none of the farmers rated 12, 13, or 14 years, while 6.7% of farmers preferred a five-year contract. The minimum price for which farmers were willing to sell straw was €0.50/bale (Figure 23); this was selected by 45.9% of all respondents, with 0.5% of farmers able to give it for free at a farm gate (if harvested by the one who receives it). The highest price was €2/bale; 28% of all respondents already sold straw, and of these 52% sold it for a price of €0.5/bale, which is the market price, while the highest price was €1 (16% of farmers). The other 71.6% did not sell at all. Additionally, one bale was equal to 15 kg straw, and 90.7% of farmers from the sample would be willing to sell their wheat straw to a bioenergy plant, while 9.3% did not agree to sell it; thus, in general, from price per ton would be 38 euros, different studies use different prices per ton, like 56.48 euros/ton, 32 euros/ton, or 50 euros/ton (ELBERSEN ET AL., 2010; GLITHERO, RAMSDEN, ET AL., 2013; MARKS-BIELSKA ET AL., 2019). Similar results can be seen in Poland, where biomass production primarily depends on raw material prices and a guaranteed market (BRODZINSKI ET AL., 2014).

#### 4.2.4 Actual Use of Wheat and Corn Straw

From table 6, we can see that most of straw is used for bedding (37.60%) and feeding animals (19.39%); there is a very low amount of straw that is incorporated back into the soil (9.73%) the other 33.38% is sold, given for free, or burned, while willingness to sell it for energy purposes is around 65%. From the results, we can conclude that, in general, farmers are willing to supply more than half of their straw (64.73%); similar results were found in the study by GLITHERO ET AL. (2013*A*). The details of our study are as follows: few farmers incorporate wheat straw into soil, 20 (9.8%) respondents incorporate between 20-50% of straw, while ten farmers or 4.9% of the sample incorporate straw 100% into soil. The other part, 173 (84.8%), do not incorporate straw at all. Only two farmers declared that they burn 100% of straw into the field; the others 99% do not burn it at all. However, this issue needs particular attention because the number of farmers who burn straw is very low in our sample, while in reality, the Ministry of Environment and Spatial Planning calls for farmers not to burn straw as there is a risk of burning buildings or forests. Bedding straw practice was applied by 48.5% of farmers. Furthermore, 56 (27.5%) farmers use around 50-100% of their straw for animal feed, while most of them 133 (65.2%) do not use it at all. Some farmers were able to find a market for selling straw; 36 (17.6%) of farmers sell their straw 100%, 15 (7.4%)

sell around 50% of their straw, while the other part 146 (71.6%) do not sell it at all. There are 20 farmers who give straw for free in exchange for wheat harvest; 18 (8.7%) of them give 100% of their straw.

	Incorporated	Burn into				Give it for	Willingness
Percentage	into soil	field	Bedding	Feeding	Sell it	free	to sell
0	173(84%)	204(99%)	106 (51.5%)	133 (64.6%)	148 (71.8%)	186 (90.3%)	18 (8.7%)
10	1 (0.5)			1 (0.5%)			3 (1.5%)
15					1 (0.5%)		1 (0.5)
20	3 (1.5%)		1 (0.5)	2 (1%)			9 (4.4%)
25	1(0.5%)			1 (0.5%)			
30	1 (0.5)			12 (5.8%)	1 (0.5%)		11(5.3%)
35	1 (0.5)		1 (0.5%)				
40				1 (0.5%)	1 (0.5%)		3(1.5%)
45	1 (0.5)						
50	13 (6.3%)		35 (17%)	39 (18.9%)	15 (7.3%)	1 (0.5%)	48 (23.3%)
55			1 (0.5%)				
60				1 (0.5%)	1 (0.5%)		11 (5.3%)
65			1 (0.5%)				
70	1(0.5%)		9 (4.4%)	1 (0.5%)	1 (0.5%)		5 (2.4%)
75	1 (0.5%)			1 (0.5%)			4 (1.9%)
80				1 (0.5%)	2 (1%)	1 (0.5%)	14 (6.8%)
85				1 (0.5%)			
90			1 (0.5%)				7 (3.4%)
95							
100	10 (4.9%)	2(1%)	51 (24.8%)	12 (5.8%)	36 (17.5%)	18 (8.7)	72 (35%)
Mean(%)	9.73	0.97	37.60	19.39	22.94	9.37	64.73

Table 6. Straw use practices in a sample size of 206 farmers.

Source: authors' own calculation

#### 4.2.5 Descriptive Data of Farmers

Concerning the socioeconomic factors of willingness to sell straw, the results (table 16) showed that most of the farms cultivated mixed cultures of wheat and corn; their average land size for wheat was 6.41 ha and for corn it was 4.49 ha, with the average number of animals being 7.81; on the other hand, a low number of farmers cultivated only wheat with an average land size of 4.40 ha and an average number of animals of 2.07. From the total sample, more than a quarter of farmers worked outside agriculture (including those employed in the public sector or private sector, self-employed in the nonagricultural sector, and other), while the others did not have any other work except agriculture. More than three-quarters of farmers had finished secondary school, and the rest had finished university. As for the land area devoted to wheat, most wheat farmers (89.3%) had large-scale farms of 0.01-9.99 ha, while a minority had >10 ha. Almost the same true for corn: the majority of farmers (92.7%) had 0.01-9.99 ha and only a few had >10 ha. When farmers were asked if they incorporate straw into the soil, most (84%) declared that they do not incorporate straw, while the others said the opposite. From the total sample, more than half of farmers (68%)

have animals, while the others have none. More than half (69.4%) of the farmers were engaged in agriculture as a full-time occupation, while the others were part-time farmers. As for age, 34% of the farmers were 20–40 years old, while the others were over 40. When asked if they were willing to sell corn straw for energy purposes, 11.6% of the farmers declared that they are not planning to plant corn at all; 36.9% were willing to sell <50% to power plants, and the other parts (51.5%) were willing to sell more than 50%. Around one-quarter of the farmers had more than nine family members, while the rest had households of 1–9 members (the average). Only 45.1% of farmers wanted to sell less than half of their straw, while the rest were willing to sell more than 50% of straw. The average price for farmers who are willing to sell less than 50% was 0.59 (€/15-kg bale), and for those who wanted to sell more than 50% of straw the price was 0.56; however, this is not a significant difference (p < 0.05). The average price is 0.57 euro per bale.

Factor	Code and Sort	Frequency	%	Mean and St. dev
I. Farm tuna	[0]. Wheat	32	15.5%	$0.656 \pm 483$
1. Farm type	[1]. Wheat and Corn	174	84.5%	$0.523 \pm 500$
II. Employment	[0]. Outside of Agriculture	68	33%	$0.5882 \pm 0.496$
n. Employment	[1]. Agriculture	138	67%	$0.5217 \pm 501$
III Education	[0]. Elementary/higher school	166	80%	$0.5361 \pm 500$
m. Education	[1]. University	40	19%	$0.575 \pm 500$
W Soil Concorne	[0]. Not Incorporated	173	84%	$0.503\pm501$
IV. Son Concerns	[1]. Incorporated into the soil	33	16%	$0.758 \pm 0.435$
V. Animala	[0]. Do not have animals	66	32%	$0.879 \pm 0.323$
v. Animais	[1]. Have animals	140	68%	$0.386 \pm 0.489$
VI Engagement in a grigulture	[0]. Part-time farmer	63	30.6%	$0.556 \pm 0.500$
vi. Engagement in agriculture	[1]. Full-time farmer	143	69.4%	$0.539 \pm 0.500$
VII. Currently call the strey	[0]. Do not sell the straw	148	71.8%	$0.487 \pm 0.501$
vii. Currentity sell the straw	[1]. Sell the straw	58	28.2%	$0.690 \pm 0.467$
	[0]. 20–40 years old	70	34%	$0.571 \pm 0.498$
viii. Age	[1]. ≥41 years old	136	66%	$0.529 \pm 0.501$
	[0]. Not planning to plant corn	24	11.7%	$0.67\pm0.482$
IX. Percentage of corn	[1]. ≤50%	76	36.9%	$0.08 \pm 0.360$
	[2].≥51%	106	51.5%	$0.86 \pm 0.350$
V Land area of wheat	[0]. 0.01–9.99	184	89.3%	$0.544 \pm 0.500$
A Land area of wheat	[1].≥10	22	10.7%	$0.546 \pm 0.510$
VI I and another of some	[0]. 0–9.99 ha	191	92.7%	$0.55 \pm 498$
AI. Land area of com	[1]. ≥10 ha	15	7.3%	$0.47 \pm 516$
VII. Household size	[0]. (1–9)	154	74.8%	$0.533 \pm 0.500$
XII. Household size	[1]. (≥10)	52	25.2%	$0.577 \pm 0.499$
Dependent variable	[0] (≤50%)	93	45.1%	$33.07\% \pm 20.01$
(Willingness to sell wheat straw)	[1] (≥51%]	113	54.9%	89.73% ± 16.58

Table 7.	<b>Farmers'</b>	basic	characteristics.

Source: authors' own calculation

#### 4.2.6 Binary Logistic Regression

Binary logistic regression was used to check significant factors influencing the willingness of farmers to sell their straws. The logistic regression model gave a statistically significant result of  $\chi 2(9) = 131.095$ , p < 0.001. This model explained between 47.1% (Cox and Snell  $R^2$ ) and 63% (Nagelkerke  $R^2$ ) of the variance in the percentage of willingness to sell straw and correctly classified 85.9% of the cases. Additionally, we obtained an insignificant value for the goodness-

of-fit test (Hosmer and Lemeshow)  $\chi^2$  (8) = 9.146, p > 0.330. Table 17 presents the logistic regression output of the factors determining farmers' willingness to sell straw in Kosovo.

The results showed that the predicted logit of (PERCENTAGE OF WILLINGNESS TO SELL) = 1.827 + (-1.034) \* SELL IT + (0.620) \*SOIL CONCERNS + (-3.535) \* ANIMALS + (-0.992) \*TIME SPENT ON FARM + (-0.463) \*AGE OF FARMER + (0.162) \* WHEAT AREA + (-3.316) \* FARM TYPE + (0.239) \* EMPLOYMENT + (0.024) \* LEVEL OF EDUCATION + (3.393) \* P. CORN STRAW + (-0.165) \* CORN AREA + (0.326) \* FAMILY.

Binary logistic regression (Table 8) showed that farmers who already sell straw and have animals, farmers who have corn, and the percentage of willingness to sell the corn straw were significant predictors of willingness to sell the wheat straw (p < 0.05), while engagement in agriculture can be potentially significant (p < 0.1). Soil concerns, corn area, wheat area, farm type, employment, education, and the number of family members were marginally nonsignificant (p > 0.05).

# 4.2.7 The Impact of Socio-Economic Factors on The Willingness to Sell the Straw

After loading a binary logistic regression in this chapter (Table 8), we found out which variables have a significant impact on willingness to sell the straw more than 50%; the description is as follows: farmers who are already selling the straw in the market they are also willing to sell it more than 50% for energy purposes while farmers who are willing to sell less than 50% for energy purposes they currently do not sell the straw at any market and this had a significant impact on willingness to sell more than 50% as the number of farmers who wants to sell "lower than 50%" on the market is very high. Farmers who have animals tend to sell less than 50% of their straw, while farmers who do not have animals were 34.48 times more likely to sell more than 50% of their straw and had a significant impact. Farmers who have only wheat tend to sell the straw more than 50% (this could also be linked with the presence of animals); they tend to sell 27.7 times more than farmers who have both cultures corn and wheat. Selling the corn straw is also linked with wheat straw; farmers who would sell the corn straw more than 50% are also willing to sell the wheat straw more than 50%, they are more likely to sell it for 29.75 times compared to those who sell the corn less than 50% this also has a significant impact. Engagement in agriculture tend to have a significant impact as the level of part-time farmers is 2.69 times higher in agreeing to sell the straw, more than 50% compared to full-time farmers. Factors that are not significant and shaped into the willingness to sell the straw more than 50% are; soil concerns, as farmers who incorporate the straw into the soil are willing to sell it more than 50%. Then there are other factors such as land size with wheat, employment, land size with corn, education and family size. Further details

are described as follows: It can be statistically justified (p < 0.05) that only three variables included in the model have an impact on the willingness to sell straw. Papers on methodology recommend the use of the so-called R value to express the role and power of specific independent variables in a model. The size of the value denotes the order of "importance" of independent variables. This index is not a part of the model's output; it needs to be calculated using the following equation:

 $R = \sqrt{\frac{Wald-2df}{Do}}$ . Willingness to sell straw is mostly (0.383) shaped by the willingness to sell the corn straw, followed by the presence of animals on the farm (0.306), farm type (0.231), and the partial impact (0.059) of engagement in agriculture and of having a market (0.083).

FACTORS В S.E. Wald Df Sig. Exp(B) R -1.034 Sell the straw .521 3.940 1 .047 .356 0.083 .620 .599 1 .300 Incorporated into 1.072 1.859 \_ soil Have cows -3.535 28.479 .000 .662 1 .029 0.306 2.999 Fulltime/part-time -.992 1 .083 .371 0.059 .573 -.463 .444 1.088 1 .297 .629 Age \_ Wheat size .162 .830 .038 1 .846 1.175 \_ Corn size 1 .875 -.165 1.048 .025 .848 Farm Type 17.120 1 .000 .036 -3.316 .801 0.231 Family .326 .495 .433 1 .511 1.385 \_ Employment .239 .543 .193 1 .660 1.270 \_ Education .024 .592 .002 1 .968 1.024 % Willing to sell 3.393 1 .000 29.748 .513 43.671 0.383 corn 1.827 .778 5.522 .019 6.217 Constant 1 0.111

 Table 8. Binary Logistic Regression; Factors Affecting the Percentage of Willingness to Sell the Straw.

-2log likelihood 152.537; Hosmer and Lemeshow ( $\chi 2 = 9.146$ , df=8, p =0.330); Pseudo R squares (Cox & Snell R Square R2= 47.1%; and Nagelkerke R2= 63%); Overall percentage of correctly predicted= 85.9%; B: unstandardized regression weight; S.E.: standard error; Sig.: significance; Exp(B): exponentiation of the B coefficient; Wald.: Wald chi-square value; Df.: the degrees of freedom ("-") Factors that were not shaped in the percentage of willingness to sell; Soil concerns, age, wheat size, corn size, family, employment, education)

Source: authors' own calculation

#### 4.3 Biomass Assessments

# 4.3.1 Differences Between Cultivars and Regions for 2019 and 2020 (g, cm/ wheat plant)

Different studies reported differences in wheat due to location, cultivar and year, for example TOWNSEND ET AL. (2017) found small differences on total straw yield between cultivars, and high variability across years, the author suggests that being able to provide accurate straw yield

data for cultivars might prove to be difficult. LARSEN ET AL. (2012) also found differences between cultivars ranged 2.7-4.6 tons/ha in two different field experiment similar results we can find also in different studies (DAI ET AL., 2016; R. E. ENGEL ET AL., 2003; GRADZIUK ET AL., 2020).



Figure 5. Total Straw Based on Cultivar, Region and Year (g/plant) Source: Author's own calculation

Figure 5. Represents the results of each experiment in two regions regarding total straw. Three cultivars are measured in gram/plant. **Total straw and leaves (g/plant) on 2019-** the highest weight of straw and leaves had Kosovo plain  $1.46\pm0.29$  compared to Dukagjini Plain  $1.42\pm0.32$ . There are significant differences between the three cultivars within the region, while there are no significant differences of these cultivars between regions, except the cultivar Vulcan. However, the highest weight in both regions had Euclid. **Total straw and leaves(g/plant) on 2020-** Similar to the previous year, the highest weight of straw and leaves had Kosovo plain  $1.37\pm0.30$ (g) compared to Dukagjini Plain  $1.21\pm0.25$ (g). In both regions, cultivar Euclid had the highest amount compared to Vulcan and Exotic p<0.05. There are significant differences between the three cultivars in both regions. According to different authors (BASTOS ET AL., 2020; FANG ET AL., 2020), a high number of wheat plants (plant density) is a critical component in increasing the amount of yield. Thus, the number of plants per m<sup>2</sup> can significantly change the straw and grain yield of the current cultivars; details are given in the table below, where we converted grams to kg per ha. In the study of CAO ET AL. (2019), this amount varies between 3.67 to  $8.33x 10^6$ /ha wheat plant.

Region	Type of cultivar	Seeds (gram)	Chaff (gram)	Collectable straw	Stubble (part 13 cm)	Wheat plant m <sup>2</sup>	Wheat plant (ha)	Seeds kg/ha	Chaff kg/ha	Collectable strawkg/ha	Stubble (13cm kg/ha
Kosovo Plain	Euclid	2.01	0.68	1.2	0.32	393.09	3930900	7961.18	2693.24	4711.27	1285.09
2019	Vulcan	2.01	0.59	1.13	0.32	334.33	3343300	6724.17	1957.63	3750.77	1083.43
	Exotic	1.91	0.64	1.06	0.34	361	3610000	6887.77	2318.77	3818.17	1225.73
Kosovo Plain	Euclid	1.93	0.43	1.21	0.27	540	5400000	10396.8	2326.4	6537.03	1446.3
2020	Vulcan	1.35	0.32	1.07	0.29	713	7130000	9598.6	2314.4	7599.3	2084.6
	Exotic	1.8	0.47	1.01	0.27	557.15	5571500	10053.3	2632.5	5625.63	1503.7
Dukagjini	Euclid	2.4	0.56	1.26	0.3	567	5670000	13616.15	3194	7091.38	1721.17
Plain 2019	Vulcan	1.85	0.45	1	0.27	621	6210000	11506.94	2729.79	6235.43	1671.5
2017	Exotic	2.65	0.58	1.09	0.34	517.65	5176500	13748.03	3098.02	5625.93	1777.51
Dukagjini	Euclid	1.71	0.42	1.1	0.27	559.89	5598900	9557.9	2340.84	6160.11	1495.15
Plain 2020	Vulcan	1.38	0.34	0.85	0.25	706.43	7064300	9767.8	2407.7	6021.87	1727.94
	Exotic	1.92	0.44	0.89	0.28	496.33	4963300	9506.84	2194.4	4399.01	1403.98

 Table 9. Winter Wheat Parameters (Gram/plant and Kilogram/ha)

#### 4.3.2 Correlation Between Wheat Parameters

Residue-to-grain ratios are often used to predict straw yield from grain yields for trials where straw yield has not been measured, usually assuming a direct or linear relationship between grain and straw yields(ENGEL ET AL., 2003). In the study of GLITHERO ET AL. (2013b), there was no clear relationship between harvested grain to straw yields for wheat because the correlation was weak and not significant. Many farmers use shorter cultivars and choose management practices to escape the straw lodging from the weather; however, BRAGG ET AL. (1984) found that although reduced plant height, it did not significantly influence straw or grain yields.

	Beeneen II	neur i mini					
Variables	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1) Total Straw (cm)	1						
2) Spike (cm)	270**	1					
3) Seed (g)	.030	.367**	1				
4) Chaff (g)	182**	.575**	$.578^{**}$	1			
5) Total Straw (g)	.205**	.543**	.620**	.616**	1		
6) Height of Plant (cm)	.988**	121**	089**	097**	.297**	1	
7) Total Dry Biomass(g)	066*	.607**	654**	.825**	.947**	.164**	1

**Table 10. Correlations Between Wheat Parameters** 

\*\*. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed). Source: authors' own calculation

From the table 10 with the total number of samples for two years and two regions, seeds have a significant positive correlation with straw(g) ( $R^2=0.620$ ), chaff ( $R^2=0.578$ ) and spike (cm) ( $R^2=0.367$ ) p<0.05 and total dry biomass (( $R^2=0.654$ ), from the above parameters seeds, have the strongest correlation with total dry biomass and total straw and the lowest no significant correlation with the height of straw and plant.

#### 4.3.3 The Share of Total Dry Biomass for The Two Regions

It is suggested that under standard conditions, only about 50% of the non-grain biomass can be baled even when the height of the combine cut is low(AHDB, 2017). This can be because some residues are unable to collect, like chaff, leaves and stubble.



Figure 6. The Share of Total Dry Biomass (on Land, Collectable, Energy Purposes) in Kosovo Plain and Dukagjini Plain; kg/ha

Source: authors' own calculation

From the figure 6, we can see that the collectable amount of straw is around 58%, our result match with different studies. The available straw for energy purposes from the collectable amount of straw, based on the willingness of farmers to sell the straw, is 64.74% similar result we can find in the study of GLITHERO ET AL. (2013*A*). Based on our results in figure 29 from the total amount of dry biomass, we can say that around 38% can be used for energy purposes, while in other studies, we can see the different percentage for available straw for energy 25%-27% from the total dry-biomass, without specifying much for other purposes (ALAKANGAS, 2011; WEISER ET AL., 2014). The Collectable amount in our study is around 58% which came by harvesting straw at a cutting point of 15cm (which is also similar to daily practices by farmers); our finding is also in line with sustainable removal rate as it is quite similar to different papers.

Our study's percentage of straw left on land is 42%; this percentage is in line with the sustainable removal rate discussed above. Chaff in our study represent around 26% of total dry biomass, the uncut residues (stubble 13cm part) in our study represents 16% similar results we can find in the study of SUARDI ET AL. (2020).

#### 4.3.4 Differences Between Cultivars and Regions (kg/ha), for 2019 and 2020

LARSEN ET AL. (2012), in attempting to identify the cultivars with high straw yields for use as feedstock for biofuel production, found yields ranged from 2.7 t ha<sup>-1</sup> to 4.2 t ha<sup>-1</sup> in one field experiment and 3.4 t ha<sup>-1</sup> to 4.6 t ha<sup>-1</sup> in another (baled straw). According to ASSENG ET AL. (2020), annual wheat yields range from <1 t/ha/y when water or nutrients are limiting to >10 t/ha/y in cooler, well-watered (via high rainfall or irrigation).



Figure 7. Collectable straw Based on Cultivar, Region and Year (kg/ha)

The figure 7 shows that the best cultivar during 2019 in the Kosovo plain was Euclid, which was significantly higher than Exotic and Vulcan. Again, in the same region but different year 2020, the best cultivar was Vulcan, significantly higher than Euclid and Exotic. In the Dukagjini plain during 2019, the best cultivar was Euclid which was significantly higher than Vulcan and Exotic, and again in 2020 in the Dukagjini plain, the best cultivar was Euclid; however, it was not significant with other cultivars Exotic nor Vulcan. From both figures, we can see that cultivar Euclid was shown higher in straw and seeds; even though Vulcan and Exotic had higher seed in the Dukagjini plain 2019 and 2020, they were not significant to Euclid.

# 4.3.5 Harvest index and ratio straw to grain, based on the cultivar, region and year

Parameters	Year	Euclid	Vulcan	Exotic	Average	Total Average
Harvest Index-Kosovo Plain	2019	0.478	0.498	0.483	0.486	
	2020	0.502	0.444	0.507	0.485	0.50
Harvest Index-Dukagjini Plain	2019	0.531	0.520	0.567	0.539	0.50
	2020	0.489	0.490	0.545	0.508	
Collectable Straw to Grain, Kosovo Plain	2019	0.592	0.558	0.554	0.568	
	2020	0.629	0.792	0.560	0.660	0.57
Collectable Straw to Grain, Dukagjini Plain	2019	0.521	0.542	0.409	0.491	0.37
	2020	0.645	0.616	0.463	0.575	
Total dry biomass to Grain, Kosovo Plain	2019	1.091	1.010	1.069	1.057	
	2020	0.992	1.250	0.971	1.071	0.00
Total dry biomass to Grain,	2019	0.882	0.924	0.764	0.857	0.99
Dukagjini Plain	2020	1.046	1.040	0.836	0.974	
Total straw to Grain,	2019	0.753	0.719	0.732	0.735	
Kosovo Plain	2020	0.768	1.009	0.709	0.829	0.73
Total straw to Grain, Dukagjini Plain	2019	0.647	0.687	0.539	0.624	0.75
	2020	0.801	0.793	0.610	0.735	
Willing to sell x Collec. Straw, Kosovo Plain	2019	0.383	0.361	0.359	0.368	
	2020	0.407	0.512	0.362	0.427	0 271
Willing to sell x Collec. Straw, Dukagjini Plain	2019	0.337	0.351	0.265	0.318	0.371
	2020	0.417	0.399	0.300	0.372	

#### Table 11. Harvest Index and Straw to Residue Ratio Based on Cultivar, Region and Year

Source: authors' own calculation

Table 11 shows the Harvest Index (seeds/ seeds+ total dry biomass) can differ from cultivars, years and regions with a scope from 0.48 to 0.54. After harvest index, the ratio straw to grain was calculated, the amount of straw in this index represents straw which is able to be collected by machinery, when machinery cuts it 15cm above the ground together with chaff, this type of index varies from 0.55 to 0.79, which an average of 0.57, which means from one kg of seed, 0.57kg of straw is able to be collected. When it comes to "Total dry biomass" or the ratio between total dry biomass and seed, the index is 1:1, which means for every kg of seed, around 1 kg of dry biomass is produced. The "total straw" in on average of 0.73, which means if the machinery cuts straw 2cm above ground without chaff, for every kg of seeds, we will have around 0.73kg straw, however cutting straw in this way is not sustainable. The last parameter which we calculated is collectable straw and the willingness of farmers to sell it; this parameter is based on the willingness of farmers to sell straw from straw which is able to collect. From collectable straw, farmers are willing to sell around 64.73% of it. This ratio number is found as collectable straw \* willingness of farmers to sell straw divided by kg of seeds. This ratio has an average of 0.37, which means based on farmers' willingness to sell straw, per every 1 kg of seed, only 0.37kg of straw can be used for energy purposes.

Amount of dry biomass	Kosovo Plain (2019-2020) kg/ha	Dukagjini Plain (2019-2020) kg/ha	Average kg/ha	Land with wheat (80,273 ha) ton
Total Dry Biomass	9133.3	10204.53	9668.9	776,151.6
Total Straw	6760.3	7548.3	7154.3	574,297.1
Collectable Straw	5325.36	5916.5	5620.93	451,208.9
Willing. to sell <b>x</b> collec. stra	aw 3447.1	3829.75	3638.43	292,067.7
Seeds	8584.61	11262.17	9900.74	794,762.5

Table 1. Potential of wheat biomass in Kosovo

Source: authors' own calculation

In Kosovo, around 80,273 ha are planted with wheat. Based on collectable amount and willingness to sell the straw, we calculate 292,067.7 tons, and the average price is  $\notin 0.57/15$ -kg bale. The price for a ton would be 38 euros, and in total, farmers would generate 11 million euros.

## **5** CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

#### 5.1 Conclusions

1. The poorest farmers, had the lowest share of non-farm income, p<0.0 while extra income slightly reduce inequality and contribute to softening the poverty between farmers.

Circular economy regarding R.E is socially desirable as around 91.3% of farmers are willing to sell the straw, the average amount of selling the straw based on farmers' willingness, was 64.74%.
 Factors that impact the amount of straw willing to sell are: having animals, farm type, willingness to sell the corn and engagement in agriculture. (Farmers who have no experience on selling straw, they don't want to sell the straw more than 50%)

4. The main reason for not selling the straw was lack of market and machinery, while the main incentives were having a good price and guaranteed market.

6. From the total biomass, around 58% of it is able to collect while the other part of 41.7% would stay on land, this rate also supports sustainable removal rate suggested from different authors.

7. In our study, the best predictor for the amount of straw are grain. The average report of total dry biomass to grain is found to be 1:1; from this report, based on collectable straw and willingness of farmers to sell the straw 1:0.37kg. There is significant difference of straw between cultivars, years and regions. The available biomass for energy purposes in Kosovo is 292,067.7 tons

#### 5.2 **Recommendations**

1. As non-farm income contributes to a more equal income distribution in rural areas, the study recommends that public institutions need to support farmers through the provision of extension services and government subsidies to improve farm production and income of farmers.

2. The environmentally friendly treatment of surplus straw (avoiding burning in the field by all means) should be directed to attractive market conditions. In addition to wheat straw, corn straw has a significant impact on the market for bioenergy derived from biomass.

3. In the case of Kosovo, our study recommends using the ratio between straw to seeds of 0.37, which means for every kg of seeds, around 0.37kg of straw is available for energy purposes

4. Straw need to measure the by precision technologies and based on willingness of farmers to sell the straw. A list with wheat cultivars with yield and straw reports is needs as database.

#### 5.3 Limitations

Regarding the analysis with non-farm income, the research is limited due to its sample size. Data collection focused on farmers with different cultures (vegetables, small fruits), which led to heterogeneous overall results. We found that part-time farmers had a significantly higher income per hectare than full-time farmers; thus, analyzing this difference in incomes per hectare based on farm type needs further research and analysis. While limitations on the analysis with farmers' attitude, our study does not cover all possible topics within the biomass utilization but is limited to what we consider important in farmers' attitude. The research does not represent farmers' attitudes to biomass energy market, but the results identify the dominant tendencies of the market community. The amount of wheat biomass is based on the experiment monitored by experts; the results of ton/ha are based on a 1-m2 edge-protected experimental area and not from farm fields, which can be lower. A greater range of cultivars needs to be assessed in the future, with a more extended period.

### 6 NEW SCIENTIFIC RESULTS

Our study is the first one in the international literature review, which assess wheat biomass-based of agronomic measurements and willingness of farmers to sell straw, taking into consideration sustainability of straw removal rate. The study also considers the inequality between rural households and the impact of non-farm income on inequality and poverty.

In connection with the results of this study which had been presented, the novel scientific outcomes drawn from this research are as follows:

1. Based on my analysis, which is done by using Poverty (FGT) and Gini Indexes, extra income does not increase inequality; on the contrary, they slightly reduce inequality and contribute to softening poverty between farmers, which could help reduce migration from rural to urban areas. By using One-Way ANOVA to compare three groups of farmers based on their income, the results showed that the poorest rural households had the highest share of farm income (77.52%) since they were less able to respond to attractive emerging non-farm income, and hence had less diversified incomes opportunities, p<0.05. Non-farm incomes have a positive impact on poverty alleviation, thus, the study suggests adopting suitable rural policies to enhance nonfarm employment. Thus, extra income from renewable energy would positively affect poverty, which would lead to a sustainable poverty reduction. By using descriptive statistics which are taken from the face to face questionnaires, I conclude that farmers have positive attitudes regarding selling straw for energy purposes; the main reason for not selling straw was lack of market and machinery, while the main incentives were having a good price and guaranteed market.

2. By using Binary Logistic Regression, I conclude that factors which are significant and shaped in the percentage of willingness to sell straw are experience with selling straw, (was positively correlated with willingness to sell straw), having animals has negative correlation on willingness to sell straw, farm type: farmers who planted wheat and corn are less willing to sell straw compared to farmers who cultivate only wheat. Engagement in agriculture also significantly impacts willingness; part-time farmers are more willing to sell straw than full-time farmers. While soil concerns, age, land size with wheat, land size with corn, education and family size have no significant impact on the willingness of farmers to sell straw.

3. From the results of experiment which was carried out for two years consecutively in two regions with three most used winter wheat cultivars, I conclude that from the total biomass, if it is cut 15cm above the ground, around 58% of it is able to collect while the other part of 41.7% would stay on land (without counting 2cm above the ground together with roots), this rate also supports sustainable removal rate suggested from different authors. The amount of dry biomass which stays on land contains 26% chaff and 16% stubble. From the collectable amount of straw, based on the willingness of farmers to sell straw, only 64.7% is available for energy purposes, converting in kg per ha this amount in the Kosovo plain is 3447.1kg/ha while in the Dukagjini plain, this amount is 3829.8.

4. From experimental fields, based on statistical analysis such as; One-Way ANOVA and T-test, there is significant difference of straw between cultivars, years and regions. Difference on the amount of collectable straw between two years within a region was from 12 to 37.9%, difference between regions for the first and second year of experiment was from - 16.14% to 35.14%. While

in total territory, the difference on the amount of collectable straw for two years is 14%. The results of Pearson Correlation shows the strongest correlation with seeds had wheat straw (g) and total dry biomass (g) which was positive 0.627 and 0.654, significant at value p<0.01, while a lower correlation was found with plant height (cm) p<0.01 and straw(cm) p>0.05. In our study, the best predictors for the amount of straw are yields. The average harvest index is 0.50, and the average report of total dry biomass to grain is found to be 1:1; from this report, based on collectable straw and willingness of farmers to sell straw, we can say that for every kg of wheat, around 0.37 kg of straw can be used for energy purposes.

## 7 REFERENCES

- 1. AHDB. (2017). Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board 2018. https://projectblue.blob.core.windows.net/media/Default/Imported%20Publication%20D ocs/Wheat%20growth%20guide.pdf
- Alakangas, E. (2011). European Standards for Fuel Specification and Classes of Solid Biofuels. In P. Grammelis (Ed.), *Solid Biofuels for Energy: A Lower Greenhouse Gas Alternative* (pp. 21–41). Springer London. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-84996-393-0\_2
- Altman, I., Bergtold, J., Sanders, D., & Johnson, T. (2015). Willingness to supply biomass for bioenergy production: A random parameter truncated analysis. *Energy Economics*, 47, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eneco.2014.10.016
- Andersen, M. S. (2007). An introductory note on the environmental economics of the circular economy. *Sustainability Science*, 2(1), 133–140. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-006-0013-6
- 5. Assembly, G. (2015). *Resolution adopted by the General Assembly on 25 September 2015*. A/RES/69/315 15 September 2015. New York: United Nations. Retrieved March 25 .... https://www.un.org/ga/search/view\_doc.asp?symbol=A/RES/70/1&Lang=E
- Asseng, S., Guarin, J. R., Raman, M., Monje, O., Kiss, G., Despommier, D. D., Meggers, F. M., & Gauthier, P. P. G. (2020). Wheat yield potential in controlled-environment vertical farms. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 117(32), 19131–19135. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2002655117
- 7. Atkinson, A. B., Rainwater, L., & Smeeding, T. M. (1995). *Income Distribution in OECD Countries*. *I OECD Social Policy Studies*.
- 8. Barrett, C. B., Bezuneh, M., Clay, D. C., & Reardon, T. (2001). *Heterogeneous Contraints, Incentives, and Income Diversification Strategies in Rural Africa.*
- Bastos, L. M., Carciochi, W., Lollato, R. P., Jaenisch, B. R., Rezende, C. R., Schwalbert, R., Vara Prasad, P. V., Zhang, G., Fritz, A. K., Foster, C., Wright, Y., Young, S., Bradley, P., & Ciampitti, I. A. (2020). Winter Wheat Yield Response to Plant Density as a Function of Yield Environment and Tillering Potential: A Review and Field Studies. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 11, 54. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2020.00054
- Batidzirai, B., Valk, M., Wicke, B., Junginger, M., Daioglou, V., Euler, W., & Faaij, A. P. C. (2016). Current and future technical, economic and environmental feasibility of maize and wheat residues supply for biomass energy application: Illustrated for South Africa. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, *92*, 106–129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2016.06.010
- Belc, N., Mustatea, G., Apostol, L., Iorga, S., Vlăduţ, V.-N., & Mosoiu, C. (2019). Cereal supply chain waste in the context of circular economy. *E3S Web of Conferences*, *112*, 03031. https://doi.org/10.1051/e3sconf/201911203031

- Biilgen, S., Keles, S., & Kaygusuz, K. (2007). The Role of Biomass in Greenhouse Gas Mitigation. *Energy Sources, Part A: Recovery, Utilization, and Environmental Effects*, 29(13), 1243–1252. https://doi.org/10.1080/00908310600623629
- Bragg, P. L., Rubino, P., Henderson, F. K. G., Fielding, W. J., & Cannell, R. Q. (1984). A comparison of the root and shoot growth of winter barley and winter wheat, and the effect of an early application of chlormequat. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, 103(2), 257–264. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021859600047201
- 14. Brodziński, Z., Kryszk, H., & Kurowska, K. (2014). Market of Producers and Processors of Agricultural Biomass for Energy Purposes. *Polish Journal of Environmental Studies*, 23(2).
- Cai, J., Liu, R., & Deng, C. (2008). An assessment of biomass resources availability in Shanghai: 2005 analysis. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 12(7), 1997–2004. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2007.04.003
- 16. Cao, H., Li, Y., Chen, G., Chen, D., Qu, H., & Ma, W. (2019). Identifying the limiting factors driving the winter wheat yield gap on smallholder farms by agronomic diagnosis in North China Plain. *Journal of Integrative Agriculture*, 18(8), 1701–1713. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2095-3119(19)62574-8
- 17. CEEBN. (2019). The energy sector in Kosovo. *Bankwatch*. https://bankwatch.org/beyond-coal/the-energy-sector-in-kosovo
- Ciani, A., Gambardella, A., & Pociovalisteanu, D. M. (2016). Circular economy and sustainable rural development. Theory and best practice: A challenge for Romania. *Annals-Economy Series*, 1, 52–56.
- Dai, J., Bean, B., Brown, B., Bruening, W., Edwards, J., Flowers, M., Karow, R., Lee, C., Morgan, G., Ottman, M., Ransom, J., & Wiersma, J. (2016). Harvest index and straw yield of five classes of wheat. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 85, 223–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2015.12.023
- 20. Daioglou, V., Stehfest, E., Wicke, B., Faaij, A., & van Vuuren, D. P. (2016). Projections of the availability and cost of residues from agriculture and forestry. *GCB Bioenergy*, 8(2), 456–470. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12285
- Donia, E., Mineo, A. M., & Sgroi, F. (2018). A methodological approach for assessing businness investments in renewable resources from a circular economy perspective. *Land Use Policy*, 76, 823–827. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2018.03.017
- Dubs, F., Le Roux, X., Allard, V., Andrieu, B., Barot, S., Cantarel, A., Vallavielle-Pope, C. de, Gauffreteau, A., Goldringer, I., Montagnier, C., Pommier, T., Porcher, E., Saint-Jean, S., Borg, J., Bourdet-Massein, S., Carmignac, D., Duclouet, A., Forst, E., Galic, N., ... Enjalbert, J. (2018). An experimental design to test the effect of wheat variety mixtures on biodiversity and ecosystem services. https://hal.archives-ouvertes.fr/hal-01843564
- 23. Elbersen, B., Startisky, I., Naeff, H., Hengeveld, G., Schelhaas, M. J., & Böttcher, H. (2010). Spatially detailed and quantified overview of EU biomass potential taking into account the main criteria determining biomass availability from different sources. Deliverable. https://ec.europa.eu/energy/intelligent/projects/sites/iee-projects/files/projects/documents/biomass\_futures\_atlas\_of\_technical\_and\_economic\_bio mass\_potential\_en.pdf
- 24. Enel. (2008). *Economia circolare*. Sustainable Development. https://www.enelgreenpower.com/it/learning-hub/sviluppo-sostenibile/economiacircolare
- 25. Engel, R. E., Long, D. S., & Carlson, G. R. (2003). Predicting Straw Yield of Hard Red Spring Wheat. Agronomy Journal, 95(6), 1454–1460. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj2003.1454
- 26. European Commission. (2014, July 31). *Biomass* [Text]. Energy European Commission. https://ec.europa.eu/energy/en/topics/renewable-energy/biomass

- 27. European Commission. (2015). Closing the loop: Commission adopts ambitious new Circular Economy Package to boost competitiveness, create jobs and generate sustainable growth [Text]. European Commission European Commission. https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/IP\_15\_6203
- 28. European Commission. (2018). *Bioeconomy: The European way to use our natural resources : action plan 2018*. Publications Office of the European Union. https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2777/79401
- 29. Eurostat. (2019). *Energy from renewable sources- Shares*. Ec.Europa.Eu. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/energy/data/shares
- EZEALIGO, U. S., EZEALIGO, B. N., KEMAUSUOR, F., ACHENIE, L. E. K., & ONWUALU, A. P. (2021). Biomass Valorization to Bioenergy: Assessment of Biomass Residues' Availability and Bioenergy Potential in Nigeria. *Sustainability*, *13*(24), 13806. https://doi.org/10.3390/su132413806
- 31. Fang, Y., Qiu, X., Guo, T., Wang, Y., Cheng, T., Zhu, Y., Chen, Q., Cao, W., Yao, X., Niu, Q.,Hu, Y., & Gui, L. (2020). An automatic method for counting wheat tiller number in the field with terrestrial LiDAR. *Plant Methods*, 16(1), 132. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13007-020-00672-8
- 32. Fazekas, D., & Tuerk, A. (2016). Do Biofuels Destroy Forests? Link between Deforestation and Biofuel Use. Climate Policy Info Hub. https://climatepolicyinfohub.eu/do-biofuelsdestroy-forests-link-between-deforestation-and-biofuel-use.html#footnote3\_6j7p33r
- 33. Foster, J., Greer, J., & Thorbecke, E. (1984). A class of decomposable poverty measures. *Econometrica: Journal of the Econometric Society*, 761–766.
- 34. Gaus, C.-C., Menrad, K., & Decker, T. (2013). Farmers' willingness to sell straw in Bavaria. 53rd Annual Conference, Berlin, Germany, September 25-27, 2013, 156222.
- 35. Giannoccaro, G. (2017). Survey data of stated farmer's preferences and willingness to supply straw. *Data in Brief*, *11*, 12–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dib.2016.12.034
- 36. Glithero, N. J., Ramsden, S. J., & Wilson, P. (2013). Barriers and incentives to the production of bioethanol from cereal straw: A farm business perspective. *Energy Policy*, 59, 161–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2013.03.003
- 37. Glithero, N. J., Wilson, P., & Ramsden, S. J. (2013). Straw use and availability for second generation biofuels in England. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 55, 311–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2013.02.033
- Gradziuk, P., Gradziuk, B., Trocewicz, A., & Jendrzejewski, B. (2020). Potential of Straw for Energy Purposes in Poland—Forecasts Based on Trend and Causal Models. *Energies*, 13(19), 5054. https://doi.org/10.3390/en13195054
- 39. Iqbal, M. A., Abbas, A., Ullah, R., Ahmed, U. I., Sher, A., & Akhtar, S. (2018). Effect of Non-Farm Income on Poverty and Income Inequality: Farm Households Evidence from Punjab Province Pakistan. Sarhad Journal of Agriculture, 34(2). https://doi.org/10.17582/journal.sja/2018/34.2.233.239
- 40. ITA. (2020). North Macedonia—Energy [North Macedonia Country Commercial Guide]. Https://Www.Trade.Gov. macedonia-energy
- 41. Jimeno, J. F., Canto, O., Cardoso, A. R., Izquierdo, M., Rodrigues, C. F., Lokshin, M., Ravallion, M., & Luttmer, E. F. (2000). *Making transition work for everyone: Poverty and inequality in Europe and Central Asia-background papers*.
- 42. Kabashi, S., Bekteshi, S., Ahmetaj, S., & Saramati, B. (2016, June 15). *Improvement of heating system in Kosovo with energy efficiency, toward GHG reduction*. SDEWES Piran, Slovenia.
- 43. Karaj, Sh., Rehl, T., Leis, H., & Müller, J. (2010). Analysis of biomass residues potential for electrical energy generation in Albania. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 14(1), 493–499. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2009.07.026

- 44. Kirchherr, J., Reike, D., & Hekkert, M. (2017). Conceptualizing the circular economy: An analysis of 114 definitions. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 127, 221–232.* https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2017.09.005
- 45. Kiss, F., & Petkovič, \DJ. (2015). Revealing the costs of air pollution caused by coal-based electricity generation in serbia. *Proceedings of the EXPRES 2015 Conference*, 96–101. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Jozsef-Nyers/publication/321797124\_Proceedings\_EXPRES\_2015/links/5a324319a6fdcc9b2d5 d63b0/Proceedings-EXPRES-2015.pdf#page=98
- 46. Kmoch, L., Palm, M., Persson, U. M., & Rudbeck Jepsen, M. (2018). Upland Livelihoods between Local Land and Global Labour Market Dependencies: Evidence from Northern Chin State, Myanmar. Sustainability, 10(10), 3707. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10103707
- 47. Kruchten, S., & Eijk, F. (2020). *Circular Economy & SDGs*. Holland Circular Hotspot. https://circulareconomy.europa.eu/platform/sites/default/files/3228\_brochure\_sdg\_-\_hch\_cmyk\_a4\_portrait\_-\_0520-012.pdf
- 48. Kumar, A., Kumar, N., Baredar, P., & Shukla, A. (2015). A review on biomass energy resources, potential, conversion and policy in India. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 45, 530–539. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.02.007
- 49. Kurowska, K., Kryszk, H., & Bielski, S. (2014). Determinants of biomass production for energy purposes in North-Eastern Poland. *Proceedings of International Conference "Engineering for Rural Development*, 417–422.
- 50. Lanfranchi, M. (2012). Economic analysis on the enhancement of citrus waste for energy production. *Journal of Essential Oil Research*, 24(6), 583–591. https://doi.org/10.1080/10412905.2012.739788
- 51. Larsen, S. U., Bruun, S., & Lindedam, J. (2012). Straw yield and saccharification potential for ethanol in cereal species and wheat cultivars. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, *45*, 239–250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2012.06.012
- 52. Latifi-Pupovci, H., Selmonaj, M., Ahmetaj-Shala, B., Dushi, M., & Grajqevci, V. (2020). Incidence of haematological malignancies in Kosovo—A post 'uranium war' concern. *PLOS ONE*, *15*(5), e0232063. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232063
- 53. Marks-Bielska, R., Bielski, S., Novikova, A., & Romaneckas, K. (2019). Straw Stocks as a Source of Renewable Energy. A Case Study of a District in Poland. *Sustainability*, *11*(17), 4714. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11174714
- 54. Mat, S. H. C., Jalil, A. Z. A., & Harun, M. (2012). Does Non-Farm Income Improve the Poverty and Income Inequality Among Agricultural Household in Rural Kedah? *Procedia Economics and Finance*, *1*, 269–275. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2212-5671(12)00031-7
- 55. McKenzie, D. (2017). Poverty, Inequality, and International Migration: Insights from 10 Years of Migration and Development Conferences. *Revue d'economie Du Developpement*, *Vol.* 25(3), 13–28.
- 56. McNulty, P., & Grace, P. M. (2009). Agricultural Mechanization and Automation-Volume II. EOLSS Publications.
- 57. MEE. (2021). Kosovo\* Fourth Progress Report on promotion and use of energy from renewable energy sources, 2018-2019. MINISTRY OF ECONOMY AND ENVIROMENT. https://www.energycommunity.org/implementation/Kosovo/reporting.html
- 58. Mendola, M. (2008). Migration and technological change in rural households: Complements or substitutes? *Journal of Development Economics*, 85(1), 150–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2006.07.003
- 59. Möllers, J., & Buchenrieder, G. (2011). Effects of rural non-farm employment on household welfare and income distribution of small farms in Croatia. *Quarterly Journal of International Agriculture*, 50(892-2016–65199), 217–235.
- 60. Muriqi, S., Fekete-Farkas, M., & Baranyai, Z. (2019). Drivers of Cooperation Activity in Kosovo's Agriculture. *Agriculture*, 9(5), 96. https://doi.org/10.3390/agriculture9050096

- Ni, M., Leung, D. Y. C., Leung, M. K. H., & Sumathy, K. (2006). An overview of hydrogen production from biomass. *Fuel Processing Technology*, 87(5), 461–472. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuproc.2005.11.003
- 62. Nikolakakis, T., Chattopadhyay, D., Malovic, D., Väyrynen, J., & Bazilian, M. (2019). Analysis of electricity investment strategy for Bosnia and Herzegovina. *Energy Strategy Reviews*, 23, 47–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esr.2018.12.002
- 63. Nikolov, N. (2011). Current European Policies and Experience on Burning of the Stubble Fields and Organic Residues in Agriculture and Forestry Sectors. *UNDP Armenia*.
- 64. NRDC. (2020). Our Forests Aren't Fuel. NRDC. https://www.nrdc.org/resources/our-forests-arent-fuel
- 65. OECD. (2015). Adjusting household incomes: Equivalence scales. OECD Project on Income Distribution and Poverty,. http://www.oecd.org/eco/growth/OECD-Note-EquivalenceScales.pdf
- 66. OECD. (2017). OECD PROJECT ON THE DISTRIBUTION OF HOUSEHOLD INCOMES. OECD. Available at: https://www.oecd.org/els/soc/IDD-ToR.pdf
- 67. Pannell, D. J., Marshall, G. R., Barr, N., Curtis, A., Vanclay, F., & Wilkinson, R. (2006). Understanding and promoting adoption of conservation practices by rural landholders. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, *46*(11), 1407–1424.
- Peltonen-Sainio, P., Muurinen, S., Rajala, A., & Jauhiainen, L. (2008). Variation in harvest index of modern spring barley, oat and wheat cultivars adapted to northern growing conditions. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, 146(1), 35–47. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021859607007368
- 69. Perlack, R. D. (2005). Biomass as Feedstock for a Bioenergy and Bioproducts Industry: The Technical Feasibility of a Billion-ton Annual Supply. Oak Ridge National Laboratory.
- 70. Reinert, K. A. (2017). *Handbook of globalisation and development*. Edward Elgar Publishing.
- 71. rks-gov. (2021). *Visit Kosovo—Climatic conditions*. Visit Kosovo. https://visitkosovo.rks-gov.net/post/kushtet-klimatike
- 72. Rozbicka, P., & Szent-Iványi, B. (2020). European development NGOs and the diversion of aid: Contestation, fence-sitting, or adaptation? *Development Policy Review*, 38(2), 161– 179. https://doi.org/10.1111/dpr.12417
- 73. Schor, J. B. (2017). Does the sharing economy increase inequality within the eighty percent?: Findings from a qualitative study of platform providers. *Cambridge Journal of Regions, Economy and Society*, 10(2), 263–279.
- 74. Schroeder, P., Anggraeni, K., & Weber, U. (2019). The Relevance of Circular Economy Practices to the Sustainable Development Goals. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, 23(1), 77– 95. https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.12732
- 75. Shkolnikov, V. M., Andreev, E. E., & Begun, A. Z. (2003). Gini coefficient as a life table function: Computation from discrete data, decomposition of differences and empirical examples. *Demographic Research*, *8*, 305–358. JSTOR.
- 76. Skøtt, T. (2011). *Straw to Energy: Status, Technologies and Innovation in Denmark 2011*. Agro Business Park A/S.
- 77. Spöttle, M., Alberici, S., Toop, G., Peters, D., Gamba, L., Ping, S., van Steen, H., & Bellefleur, D. (2013). Low ILUC potential of wastes and residues for biofuels. *To Be Found At< Http://Www. Ecofys. Com/Files/Files/Ecofys-2013-Low-Iluc-Potential-of-Wastes-and-Residues. Pdf>[Quoted 10.08. 2015].*
- 78. Suardi, A., Saia, S., Stefanoni, W., Gunnarsson, C., Sundberg, M., & Pari, L. (2020). Admixing Chaff with Straw Increased the Residues Collected without Compromising Machinery Efficiencies. *Energies*, 13(7), 1766. https://doi.org/10.3390/en13071766
- 79. Townsend, T. J., Sparkes, D. L., & Wilson, P. (2017). Food and bioenergy: Reviewing the potential of dual-purpose wheat crops. *GCB Bioenergy*, 9(3), 525–540. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12302

- 80. Velenturf, A. P. M., & Purnell, P. (2021). Principles for a sustainable circular economy. *Sustainable Production and Consumption*, 27, 1437–1457. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spc.2021.02.018
- 81. Wal, S. van der. (2021). Wood pellet damage: How Dutch government subsidies for Estonian biomass aggravate the biodiversity and climate crisis. Environmental Paper Netwok. https://environmentalpaper.org/biomass-library/wood-pellet-damage-how-dutch-government-subsidies-for-estonian-biomass-aggravate-the-biodiversity-and-climate-crisis/
- 82. Wang, Y., Xu, J., Shen, J., Luo, Y., Scheu, S., & Ke, X. (2010). Tillage, residue burning and crop rotation alter soil fungal community and water-stable aggregation in arable fields. *Soil and Tillage Research*, *107*(2), 71–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2010.02.008
- 83. Weiser, C., Zeller, V., Reinicke, F., Wagner, B., Majer, S., Vetter, A., & Thraen, D. (2014). Integrated assessment of sustainable cereal straw potential and different straw-based energy applications in Germany. *Applied Energy*, 114, 749–762. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2013.07.016
- 84. Woldehanna, T., & Oskam, A. J. (2000). Off-farm employment and income inequality: The implication for poverty reduction strategy. *Ethiopian Journal of Economics*, 9(1), 40–57.
- 85. World Bank. (2000). *Making transition work for everyone: Poverty and inequality in Europe and Central Asia.* World Bank.
- 86. World Bank. (2016). The World Bank In Kosovo-COUNTRY PROGRAM SNAPSHOT. http://pubdocs.worldbank.org/en/419461462386476530/World-Bank-Kosovo-Program-Snapshot-April-2016.pdf
- 87. Yanli, Y., Peidong, Z., Wenlong, Z., Yongsheng, T., Yonghong, Z., & Lisheng, W. (2010). Quantitative appraisal and potential analysis for primary biomass resources for energy utilization in China. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 14(9), 3050–3058. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2010.07.054
- 88. Yevich, R., & Logan, J. A. (2003). An assessment of biofuel use and burning of agricultural waste in the developing world. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 17(4). https://doi.org/10.1029/2002GB001952
- Ymeri, P., Gyuricza, C., & Fogarassy, C. (2020). Farmers' Attitudes Towards the Use of Biomass as Renewable Energy—A Case Study from Southeastern Europe. *Sustainability*, *12*(10), 4009. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12104009
- 90. YMERI, P., SAHITI, F., MUSLIU, A., SHAQIRI, F., & PLLANA, M. (2017). The effect of farm size on profitability of laying poultry farms in Kosovo. *Bulgarian Journal of Agricultural Science*, 23(3), 376–380.
- 91. Zyadin, A., Natarajan, K., Igliński, B., Iglińska, A., Kaczmarek, A., Kajdanek, J., Trishkin, M., Lisowski, A., Dąbrowska, M., Pelkonen, P., & Pappinen, A. (2019). Farmers' perceptions of the challenges facing the biomass market in Poland; a case study from South and Central Poland. *Biofuels*, 0(0), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1080/17597269.2018.1546486
- 92. ZHANG, F., LI, C., YU, Y., & JOHNSON, D. M. (2019). Resources and Future Availability of Agricultural Biomass for Energy Use in Beijing. *Energies*, 12(10), 1828. https://doi.org/10.3390/en12101828

# 7. LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

#### SCIENTIFIC JOURNAL ARTICLES

1. **YMERI, P**, SAHITI, F, MUSLIU, A, SHAQIRI, F, & PLLANA, M. "The Effect Of Farm Size On Profitability Of Laying Poultry Farms In Kosovo." Bulgarian Journal of Agricultural Science 23, no. 3 (2017): 376-380. (Web of Science and Scopus Q3)

2. NEMETH, N, RUDNAK, I, **YMERI,P**\*,FOGARASSY, C: (2019). The role of cultural factors in sustainable food consumption—an investigation of the consumption habits among international students in Hungary. Sustainability, 11(11), 3052 (Web of Science and Scopus Q2)

3. YMERI, P., GYURICZA, C., & FOGARASSY, C. (2020). Farmers' attitudes towards the use of biomass as renewable energy—A case study from southeastern europe. Sustainability, 12(10), 4009. (Web of Science and Scopus Q2)

4. YMERI, P., MUSLIU, A., SHKODRA, J., MIFTARI, I., & FOGARASSY, C. (2020). Analysis of income determinants among rural households in Kosovo. Society and Economy, 42(4), 442-457. (Scopus Q3)

5. CZIKKELY, M, NEUBAUER, E, FEKETE, I, **YMERI, P**, AND FOGARASSY, C. "Review of Heavy Metal Adsorption Processes by Several Organic Matters from Wastewaters." Water 10, no. 10 (2018): 1377. (Web of Science and Scopus Q1)

6. HORVATH, B, KHAZAMI, N, YMERI, P, & FOGARASSY, C. "Investigating The Current Business Model Innovation Trends In The Biotechnology Industry." Journal of Business Economics and Management 19, 2018. (Web of Science and Scopus Q2)

7. **YMERI, P.,** MURIQI,S., & FOGARASSY, C.. (2019). The Biggest Challengesof Straw Pellet Supply Chain. Acta Aada, Mokslo Darbai, Akademine Adybos Ir Administravimo Asociacija. Nr.5., 2018, Vilnius, Pp. 84-92 Issn 2351-6399

8. MURIQI,S., **YMERI, P.**, & BARANYAI, Z. (2019). The Role Of Cooperatives In Agriculture Supply Chain. Acta Aada, Mokslo Darbai, Akademine Adybos Ir Administravimo Asociacija. Nr.5., 2018, Vilnius, Pp. 26-33 Issn 2351-6399.

9. FOGARASSY, C., NAGY-PÉRCSI, K., AJIBADE, S., GYURICZA, C., & YMERI, P. (2020). Relations between circular economic "principles" and organic food purchasing behavior in Hungary. Agronomy, 10(5), 616. (Web of Science and Scopus Q1)

10. BYTYÇI, P., **YMERI, P.**, CZIKKELY, M., FETOSHI, O., SHALA-ABAZI, A., ISMAILI, M., ... & MILLAKU, F. (2019). The application of benthic diatoms in water quality assessment in Lepenci River Basin, Kosovo. *Journal of Ecological Engineering*, *20*(11). (Web of Science and Scopus Q3)

11. ETEMI, F. Z., BYTYÇI, P., ISMAILI, M., FETOSHI, O., **YMERI, P.,** SHALA–ABAZI, A., ... & CZIKKELY, M. (2020). The use of macroinvertebrate based biotic indices and diversity indices to evaluate the water quality of Lepenci river basin in Kosovo. *Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part A*, *55*(6), 748-758. (Web of Science and Scopus Q2)

12. BYTYQI, PA, CZIKKELY, M, SHALA-ABAZI, A, FETOSHI, O, ISMAILI, M, HYSENI-SPAHIU, M, **YMERI, P**, KABASHI-KASTRATI, E, AND MILLAKU, F. "Macrophytes as biological indicators of organic pollution in the Lepenci River Basin in Kosovo." *Journal of Freshwater Ecology* 35, no. 1 (2020): 105-121. (Web of Science and Scopus Q3)

13. HAAS, R., IMAMI, D., MIFTARI, I., YMERI, P., GRUNERT, K., & MEIXNER, O. (2021). Consumer Perception of Food Quality and Safety in Western Balkan Countries: Evidence from Albania and Kosovo. Foods, 10(1), 160. (Web of Science and Scopus Q1)

14. SHAQIRI, F., MUSLIU, A., **YMERI,P**. & VASA, L. (2019). Evaluating consumer behavior for consumption of milk and cheese in Gjilan Region, Kosovo. Annals of Agrarian Science, 17(3), 375-381.

15. SHKODRA, J., YMERI, P., & IBISHI, L. (2021). Role of Microfinance Institutions for Developing Women Entrepreneurship-the Case Study of Kosovo. *Economics & Sociology*, *14*(1), 120-129. (Web of Science and Scopus Q2)

16. ZHUSHI ETEMI, F., ÇADRAKU, H., BYTYÇI, A., KUÇI, T., DESKU, A., **YMERI, P.,** & BYTYÇI, P. (2020). Correlation between physical and chemical parameters of water and biotic indices: The case study the White Drin River basin, Kosovo. *Journal of Water and Land Development*, 229-241. (Scopus Q2)

17. ZHUSHI-ETEMI, F., CEKA, R., ÇADRAKU, H., BYTYQI, P., SHALA-ABAZI, A., FETOSHI, O., **YMERI. P**,.. & ISMAILI, M. (2021). The use of NEP scale to evaluate the environmental worldview of the employees in the city of Kacanik in Republic of Kosovo. *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, *23*(6), 8195-8211.(Web of Science and Scopus Q2)

#### CONFERENCES

1. **YMERI, P** & MURIQI, SH "Monopoly and gas emissions" 16 TH INTERNATIONAL SCIENTIFIC DAYS, "Sustainability Challenges and Answers" ESZTERHÁZY KÁROLY UNIVERSITY KÁROLY ROBERT CAMPUS, GYÖNGYÖS Eszterházy Károly University, URL: <u>https://ntn2018.uni-</u> eszterhazy.hu/files/NTN%20Program%202018.pdf

2. MURIQI, SH & YMERI, P, "The Impact of Unemployment on Social Situation in Kosovo" 16 TH INTERNATIONAL SCIENTIFIC DAYS, "Sustainability Challenges and Answers" ESZTERHÁZY KÁROLY UNIVERSITY KÁROLY ROBERT CAMPUS, GYÖNGYÖS Eszterházy Károly University URL: https://ntn2018.uni-eszterhazy.hu/files/NTN%20Program%202018.pdf

3. **YMERI**, **P** AND FOGARASSY, CS "Straw use of the wheat and corn and its availability in Kosovo". Third International Scientific Conference on Economics and Management-EMAN, 2019, Ljubljana, Slovenia

4. BYTYQI, P, SHALA-ABAZI, A, FETOSHI, O, ISMAILI, M, CZIKKELY, M, **YMERI, P**, KABASHO-KASTRATI, E, MILLAKU, F

Water quality classification using macrophytes as biological indicator in the basin of Lepenci river Kosovo In: Tahir, Özcan (eds.) International Biodiversity & Ecology Sciences Symposium Proceedings (BIOECO2019) Istanbul, Turkey : Iskenderun Technical University, (2019) pp. 343-343. , 1 p.